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direction. A semaphore signal was operated by levers from inside the telegrapher’s area, notifying train
engineers that orders needed to be picked up. If the train was not scheduled to stop in Colfax, the orders
could be “hooped up” to the train crew using a hand-held hoop or special posts next to the tracks. The office
area included a counter where passengers could buy tickets or conduct other business with the railroad.
Western Union also maintained an office here.

The southern portion of the building housed the passenger waiting area and public rest rooms, accessible to
both SP tracks and NCNG tracks on opposite sides of the building. Contrary to secme reports, there was no
saloon in the 1905 depot, but food and drink were available nearby in the Gillen (later Colfax) Hotel. The
Colfax roadmaster had an office at the southern corner of the building.

Southern Pacific Railroad experienced increased passenger service through Colfax in the early 20t century.
The passenger depot was a beehive of activity, serving numerous trains from both sides of the building.
Freight trains became more numerous as well, and the depot served as office support for both passenger
and freight trains. Starting in the teens, Coifax began to see more of the huge cab-forward steam
locomotives that remained a fixture on the line until the early 1950’s. Colfax was a watering stop for the
thirsty Eastbound locomotives as they climbed the grades toward Donner Summit. Special Presidential
trains or those carrying other dignitaries stopped at Colfax to take on water. From 1915 until the late 1940’s
Colfax was also home to a fleet of helper locomotives. Their crews and support personnel operated out of
the Colfax engine house and the passenger depot.

In this ‘photo from the early 1940's, an eastbound
Southern Pacific cab-forward locomotive pauses in
Jront of the Colfax Passenger Depot. A Colfax-based
helper locomotive has been added in front of the big
cab-forward. The helper will provide added power for
nill the heavy grades between Colfax and Emigrant Gap.
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City Council later that month but City politics delayed the presentation into 1997. This and other delays
meant the finalized design was not ready to go out to bid until the Spring of 1999. This timing became
important since some of the funds that had been secured for the project required a contract commitment
by July 1999,

An artist rendering of the Town Center concept
that was described in the Sept. 11, 1996 issue of

the Colfux Record. The design concept was to ¥
be presented to the Colfax City Council later
that year. It included a clock tower, brick
paving and landscaping near the Grass Valley
Street railroad crossing.

A east on Grass Valley Street toward the proposed town square

As part of the design process, the historical significance of the depot building was reviewed, and the decision
was made to submit the depot to the National Register of Historic Piaces. That designation was approved
in January 1999, and offered the promise of increased emphasis on completing the building renovation and
identifying additional funding sources,

Unfortunately the Capitol Corridor trial extension was not faring well. Ridership was much less than
expected on the whole line, with only a few people boarding at Colfax for the early morning departure. By
1999 the handwriting was on the wall — the trial extension of Capitol Corridor service was in troubie and was
scheduled to be terminated later that year. In a scramble to save at least part of the extension, officials
abandoned the idea of overnighting a train in Colfax, and instead argued for the extended service to
continue to Auburn. That plan was eventually adopted, but it left Coifax without a Capitol Corridor train stop.

As this was playing out, the Colfax project was finally ready to go out to bid in the late spring of 1999. Only
two bids were submitted, and each was well over the government estimate and available funds. With the
news that the Capitol Corridor train service to Colfax was likely going away that year, the Colfax multi-modal
project was all but dead.

Some of the funding set aside for the project was lost without a contract award in 1999, but some funds
remained available. The City of Colfax petitioned PCTPA to allow the City to proceed with a downsized
project utilizing portions of the existing design and the remaining funds. The City was authorized to proceed,
and the City Engineer put a package together to complete limited portions of the project. That contract was
awarded in 2000, and included hardscape {streets, gutters, lighting and storm drains) for the area around
the depot, and a new foundation and roof for the depot building itself to preserve the structure until further
funds could be found to complete the building. The contract also included hardscape for the area that is
now Roy Toms Plaza and gazebo.

In order to give the depot a new foundation, a commercial mover lifted the building intact and moved it a
few hundred feet north toward Grass Valley Street so that its old foundation could be replaced with a new
concrete foundation, slab floor and utilities stub-outs. The old roof was removed while the building was in
this temporary location. When the new foundation was complete the building was moved back into place
and bolted to the foundation. Prior to installing new roofing a large glue-laminate beam was inserted in the
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attic reaching the length of the building. This was one of several retrofits required to meet California
earthquake standards before the building could be open to the public.

ndred feet toward Grass Valley St.
building was then moved back in
‘nserting the glue-laminate beam.

spaces were completed, along with

to the depot area. The building was

ndation and sporting a new roof with

ing had been penetrated for the large

beams used to move the building or removed to provide access for bolting the building to the new foundation.

The siding repair boards were matched as closely as possible to the original siding and painted yeliow with

the thought toward returning the building to its original colonial yellow color, but the rest of the building

retained its badly weathered light blue color. A temporary fence was placed around the building and there
it sat awaiting a source of funding to pursue further renovation.

As an aside, this construction phase also included relocating the Chamber of Commerce green railcar, that
had once been a bank branch for Heart Federal Savings, from its site in front of the Colfax Hotel to its
present location across Railroad Avenue from the depot.

The City of Colfax had an active program underway to preserve the historic nature of downtown buildings,
and the passenger depot offered the potentia to be a centerpiece of historic downtown if its renovation could
be completed. In 2002 the City formed the Depot Project Management committee, made up of local
volunteers along with representatives from the Economic Development Commission, Planning Commission,
Garden Club, Historical Society, and chaired by the City Manager. The committee was tasked with
identifying potential uses for the building and sources of funds to complete the renovation and bring the
building into productive use.

The first focus was on finding the resources to get the building painted. Utilizing a volunteer work party was
not an option since the building exterior likely contained lead-based paint which required special handling.
A Colfax business owner came forward and hired a contractor who repaired the exterior siding and repainted
the building. A local railroad history group researched the building’s paint history and identified the correct
mix for colonial yellow siding, samoa brown columns, and green trim that were the original colors on the
building when it was built in 1905. While the painting preparation was underway, city crews reglazed the
windows reusing the original single pane glass. The committee considered installing more efficient double
pane windows but opted for staying with the original glass to retain the historical appearance of the exterior,
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Above left, original boards were reinstalled along with custom-milled replacements. After the room
was painted, simulated oak flooring was installed to complete the look. In the photo at right note
the operational sliding door at far left next to the new doorway being installed. Simulated wainscot
covers new electrical wiring and wall boards that were cut off above the foundation attachments.

With the museum portion virtually complete, work focused on completing the rest of the building interior. A
new wall was framed between the visitor center and waiting room. This wall and doorway opening had to
incorporate a steel post that provided support for the glue-laminate beam installed in the attic as an
earthquake retrofit. Shear plywood panels were also required on some of the interior walls to satisfy
earthquake retrofit standards. Outside walls were insulated, and interior walls were constructed and
insulated for the men's and women's restrooms and janitors closet. Another wall was framed and insulated
to separate the corner office from the restrooms. At that time the corner office was slated to be used by
railroad crews and included framing for its own restroom. Distribution wiring was installed for electrical
service in all the rooms, along with telephone and signal wiring for data. Phone and data cables terminated
at cabinets near the main electrical panel adjacent to the restrooms.
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Selected parts of the project were completed by contractors. During work on the former baggage room, a
contractor was hired to blow insulation into the already enclosed walls. A second contract was awarded to
install the heating and air conditioning systems, with one system serving the museum and another the rest
of the building. After walls in the visitor center and waiting room were framed and insulated, a third contract
was awarded to sheetrock those areas. Volunteers then installed simulated wainscot and chair rails in both
rooms. A small contract was awarded to a cabinetmaker to construct a custom cabinet to fit under the bay
windows In the visitor center. The painting contractor who had painted the museum interior donated time
and materials to paint the interior walls and ceiling of the visitor center and waiting room, as well as the
custom cabinet under the bay window. Flooring was then installed by another contractor.

Above, sheetrock was installed in visitor center (lefi) and waiting room (right). Original brick chimneys
were preserved and period light fixtures added. Below, Finishing touches in the visitor center include a
custom desk and telegrapher equipment (lefi). Waiting room (right) includes photo displays and custom art.
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in fact some changes such as preserving the operating freight door actually enhanced the preservation of
the exterior appearance. To fully qualify for the grant the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) was
consulted to review the project drawings, and a historical architect was brought on board to ensure that the
historic appearance of the building would be preserved in perpetuity.

A local businessman donated the services of his plumber to plumb the bathrooms and install fixtures
purchased by the project. At this stage the project received another major donation to finish the bathrooms.
A local resident arranged for his tile company to bring tile setter trainees to the depot and set donated period

tile for the bathroom walls and floor.

Donated asphalt grindings from a nearby
road construction project are being spread
in the area between the depot and tracks to
provide an even surface. A local contractor
provided the truck and driver.













